#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2011-CA-00078

LaTOYA HACKLER, on behalf of herself, Individually, and as mother and next friend of A'KAALIN HACKLER TOWNES, a minor Deceased, and any wrongful death beneficiaries of A'KAALIN HACKLER TOWNES, Deceased

**APPELLANT** 

VS

PHC-CLEVELAND, INC., BOLIVAR MEDICAL CENTER and DR. ROBERT C. TIBBS, MD

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE
CIRCUIT COURT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
SECOND DISTRICT
CAUSE NO. 2009-0065

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

#### ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS:

Louise Harrell
Attorney At Law
P. O. Box 2977
Jackson, MS 39207
(601) 353-0065
(601) 608-7999
MSB N
August 30, 2011

## II. STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Appellant satisfied the requirements of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56(f), for a continuance of the summary judgment hearing.

Appellant had sufficient and good cause, as explained in the affidavit of Attorney Louise Harrell, for the Court to postpone consideration of Defendants' summary judgment motion.

The Affidavit of Elliot B. Oppenheim MD, JD, LM Health Law identified with specificity what particular information Appellant would present to the Court for consideration after a continuance of the hearing.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Background Information

In this case, LaToya Hackler gave birth to A'Kaalin (Hackler) Townes by cesarean section at the Bolivar Medical Center on July 3, 2007. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 5; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 27. Upon birth, the newborn A'Kaalin Townes was admitted to Bolivar Medical Center where she remained for the next four (4) days. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 5; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 27. Dr. Robert Tibbs, M.D. was A'Kaalin Townes' treating physician while she was at Bolivar Medical Center. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 6; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 28. Dr. Tibbs and Bolivar Medical Center discharged A'Kaalin Townes home with her mother on July 6, 2007. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 6; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 28.

On July 8, 2007, A'Kaalin Townes presented to Bolivar Medical Center with apnea and an erratic heart rate. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 6; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 28. Baby A'Kaalin was treated at Bolivar Medical Center and transported to the University of Mississippi Medical Center in Jackson, Mississippi. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 6; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 28. A'Kaalin Townes died at the University Medical Center on July 8, 2007. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 6; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 28.

#### **B.** Procedural History

On August 31, 2009, LaToya Hackler filed action against Bolivar Medical Center and Dr. Tibbs, in the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, MS, on behalf of herself individually, and as mother and next friend of A'Kaalin Townes, and any wrongful death beneficiaries of A'Kaalin Townes. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 5; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 27. Appellant Latoya

Hackler's complaint alleges that Bolivar Medical Center and Dr. Robert C. Tibbs, III were medically negligent which caused the wrongful death of A'Kaalin Townes. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 5-9; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 27-31. More specifically, Appellant LaToya Hackler alleged that Bolivar Medical Center and Dr. Robert C. Tibbs, III deviated from the standard of medical care by failure to conduct proper follow-up care and tests on her newborn child. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 5-9; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp.27-31.

All parties conducted discovery through the exchange of interrogatories and requests for production of documents. No depositions were taken. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp.1-2;

Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 1-2.

On August 27, 2010, Defendant Robert Tibbs, MD filed for summary judgment.

Circuit Ct. Rec. p. 32; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 1-2. Defendant Bolivar Medical Center filed for summary judgment on September 7, 2010. Circuit Ct. Rec. p. 59; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 1-2. The basis of both Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was that Appellant Hackler had not presented expert witness testimony which supported her claim of medical negligence with respect to the care provided her newborn child and which caused the child's death. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 32, 59; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 1-2.

Defendants' summary judgment motions were set for hearing on November 18, 2010. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 84; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* p. 33. On November 16, 2010, Appellant LaToya Hackler filed a Motion to Continue the hearing pursuant to Rule 56(f) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 86-88; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 35-37. The Circuit Court Judge did not grant the continuance and issued Orders granting summary judgment to both Bolivar Medical Center and Dr. Tibbs. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 157-

158; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 3-4. Appellant LaToya Hackler filed this appeal on January 4, 2011. Circuit Ct. Rec. p. 159; Appellants' Rec. Excp. p 2.

## C. Statement of Facts

Appellant LaToya Hackler appealed the Circuit Judges' denial of her Rule 56 (f)

Motion to continue the summary judgment hearing, and the granting of summary judgment to
both Bolivar Medical Center and Dr. Tibbs. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 159. In support of her

Motion for Continuance, Appellant presented the Affidavit of her Attorney Louise Harrell
and the affidavit of her medical legal consultant, Dr. Elliott B. Oppenheim, MD, JD, LLM

Health Law. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* 90-100, 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-49, 50-52

The Affidavit of Appellant Hackler's Attorney detailed why Appellant needed a continuance
of the hearing and, the affidavit of Dr. Oppenheim detailed what specific testimony

Appellant would present to the Circuit Court if granted the continuance. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp.
90-100, 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-49, 50-52.

Appellant's Complaint was filed on August 31, 2009. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* p. 5;

Appellants' Rec. Excp. p. 27. As outlined in the affidavit of Appellant Hackler's Attorney, prior to August 2009, on behalf of Appellant, medical records were submitted to a medical legal consultant to provide medical expert witness testimony on behalf of Appellant Hackler. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-40. Appellant Hackler's medical legal consultant provided a preliminary opinion that the defendants' breached the standard of care with respect to the medical treatment provided to her baby, A'Kaalin Townes.

Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-92, 100-102; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-41, 50-51.

The medical -legal consultant's opinion was pending further review of medical records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center which were not available at the time of the preliminary opinion. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-92; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-41. Although Appellant Hackler did have a copy of the autopsy report from the University of Mississippi Medical Center, Hackler was not aware that the University of Mississippi Medical Center did not include the medical records when it sent the autopsy report. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-92; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-41. Hackler learned from the medical legal consultant that certain records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center were not included with the autopsy report. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp 90-92; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-41. For several months, Appellant Hackler was unable to obtain the necessary medical records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-100; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-49.

The Affidavit of Louise Harrell details Appellant Hackler's efforts to obtain the medical records from the University Medical Center. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp 90-100; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-49. On April 9, 2010, Appellant Hackler requested the needed medical records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91, 93-94; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40, 42-43. When Appellant Hackler did not timely receive the medical records from the medical center, Appellant Hackler again requested the needed medical records on May 3, 2010. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91, 95-96; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40, 44-45. Appellant Hackler's April and May 2010 medical records requests were provided to the Circuit Court in support of her Motion for a Continuance. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 95-96; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 44-45.

When the needed medical records were not received after the May 2010 request, Appellant's attorney contacted the University of Mississippi Medical Center regarding the records. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp 39-40. Appellant's attorney was advised to re-submit the medical records request along with a copy of the Death Certificate of A'Kaalin Hackler Townes. On June 3, 2010, Appellant submitted the Death Certificate as requested and again, for the third time, requested the medical records. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91, 97-98; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40, 46-47. This information was also provided to the Circuit Court. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40.

Even after the June 3, 2010 third request, the University Medical Center still did not provide the medical records to Appellant Hackler. On July 16, 2010, Appellant Hackler made a fourth request for the medical records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91, 99-100; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40, 48-49. The University Medical Center finally provided the needed medical records in August 2010. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-91; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40.

When Appellant finally received the medical records in August 2010, Defendant Tibb's had filed his summary judgment motion. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 32, 59; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 1-2. Appellant was thus facing a reduced amount of time to get everything to her medical expert. Unfortunately, Appellant Hackler had also her job and was in a financial hardship. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-92; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-41. This caused further delay and she was unable to pay the amount requested by the physicians to

complete the review of the records and get an affidavit by the hearing date of November 18, 2010. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-92; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-42.

Because of the delay in receiving medical records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center and Appellant Hackler's then existing financial hardship, Hackler requested additional to time have her potential expert witnesses complete their review of the medical records and provide appropriate affidavits to the court. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 86-99; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp 35-38.

In further support of her Rule 56(f), Motion for Continuance Appellant Hackler presented the Affidavit of Elliott B. Oppenheim, MD, JD, LLM Health Law, to detail the specific information which Appellant Hackler would present through expert witnesses if she was give a continuance. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-51. Dr. Oppenheim, who reviewed available medical records of the Appellant Hackler and baby A'Kaalin, stated expert testimony would show the mother was diagnosed with Group B streptococcus and treated at delivery with antibiotics. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-51. Baby A'Kaalin Townes was jaundiced at birth and was discharged home after approximately two days without evaluation of the source of the jaundice. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-51. The expert would further testify that the medical records contained no documentation that the proper blood work was performed on baby A'Kaalin. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-51. Baby A'Kaalin was showing signs of sepsis, jaundice, poor feeding, and some respiratory distress. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-

51. The expert would testify that, given the circumstances, further evaluation of baby A'Kaalin was mandatory. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-51.

Dr. Oppenheim further informed the Circuit Court, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty the Defendants' serious omissions, violated the standard of care and directly and proximately caused baby A'Kaalin's death. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-51. Dr. Oppenheim informed the Circuit Court that the defendants violated these enunciated standards, and, but for the Defendants' omissions baby A'Kaalin would have lived. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp.101-102; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 50-51.

The Circuit Court did not grant Hackler's motion. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 157, 158, *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 3, 4. In the face of the specific information provided to the Circuit Court, the Circuit Court erred in not granting a continuance, and further erred in granting summary judgment.

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in denying Appellant Hackler's Motion for a continuance pursuant to Rule 56 (f) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 56 (f) protects a litigant opposing summary judgment who for valid and good cause cannot, by affidavit or otherwise, present evidence as authorized by Rule 56 (e). Under Rule 56 (f), the party is not required to present evidentiary facts going to the merits of the case, rather, the party must show what circumstances prevented her from presenting proof by affidavit which opposes summary judgment.

Appellant provided to the Circuit Court Affidavits her attorney, Louise Harrell, and Dr. Elliott Oppenheim to show why she needed a continuance of the summary judgment hearing. The Harrell and Oppenheim affidavits showed that Appellant had been diligent in her efforts to obtain information from the University of Mississippi Medical Center, and through circumstances beyond her control, there was a delay in Appellant getting certain medical records. The affidavit of Dr. Elliott Oppenheim presented to the Circuit Court the specific facts and other evidence Appellant Hackler would present if granted the requested continuance.

Unforeseen circumstances which were beyond her control prevented Appellant

Hackler from filing appropriate expert affidavits before the November 18, 2010 hearing date.

Under the facts of this case, the Circuit Court erred in denying Appellant Hackler's Rule 56(f)

Motion for Continuance.

#### **VII. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES**

1. Appellant satisfied the requirements of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56(f), for a continuance.

Rule 56 (f), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, states:

When Affidavits Are Unavailable. Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such order as is just.

Thus, in accord with Rule 56(f), a "party may defend against summary judgment by presenting affidavits that prove 'that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition'; the result of such proof is that the trial court should continue the case to allow discovery to develop further." M.R.C.P. 56(f); *Hobgood v. Koch Pipeline Southeast, Inc.*, 769 So. 2d 838, 845 (Miss. Ct. App.2000). "[T]he party resisting summary judgment must present specific facts why he cannot oppose the motion and must specifically demonstrate 'how postponement of a ruling on the motion will enable him, by discovery or other means, to rebut the movant's showing of the absence of a genuine issue of fact." *Hobgood*, 769 So. 2d at 845, (citing *United States v. Little Al*, 712 F.2d 133, 135 (5th Cir. Tex. 1983)).

Evidence submitted in support of request for a Rule 56(f) continuance need not be presented in a form suitable for admission as evidence at trial, so long as it raises sufficiently above mere speculation; therefore, reliance on hearsay, or other inadmissible material, is not a dispositive defect under Rule 56(f). *Valley National Bank v. Greenwhich Ins. Co.*, 254 F.Supp2d 448 (SD NY 2003); *Simas v. First Citizens Federal Credit Union*, 170 F.3d 37, 45-46 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1999). Rule 56(f) is a complement to the remaining provisions of Rule 56. It's intent is to allow the opposing party to explain why she is as yet unable to present a complete evidentiary opposition to summary judgment, which would be subject to the more ridge evidentiary standards of Rule 56(c). *Carney v. US*, 19 F.3d 807, 813 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1994).

Rule 56(f) motions are generally favored and should be liberally granted. *Stearns*Airport Equip. Co. v. FMC Corp., 170 F.3d 518, 535 (5th Cir.1999). A party "may not simply rely on vague assertions that additional discovery will produce needed, but unspecified

facts." Krim, 989 F.2d at 1442. Any party seeking further discovery in response to summary judgment motion must submit an affidavit specifying what particular information is sought, how, if uncovered, it would preclude summary judgment, and why it has not previously been obtained; since the court has discretion, affidavit requirements serve as a guide, not as exhaustive list. Interstate Outdoor Advertising v. Zone Board of the TP. Of Cherry Hill, 672 FSupp.2d 675 (D NJ 2009).

# 2. Appellant had sufficient and good cause for the Court to postpone consideration of Defendants' summary judgment motion.

Appellant Hackler requested a continuance by the Court of any ruling on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment or in the Alternative to Dismiss for sixty (60) days so that plaintiff can secure another expert witness. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 86-89; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 35-38. Appellant had sufficient and good cause, as explained in the affidavit of Attorney Louise Harrell, for the Court to postpone consideration of Defendants' summary judgment motion. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-100; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-49. Through no fault of Appellant Hackler, the University Medical Center took several months to provide certain medical records to Hackler and, for that reason, Appellant Hackler was unable to obtain the necessary medical records to complete preparation of her expert evidence to the Circuit Court by the hearing date. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-100; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-49.

As stated, the Affidavit of Louise Harrell details Appellant Hackler's four (4) month long effort to obtain the medical records from the University Medical Center. *Circuit Ct.* 

Rec. pp. 90-100; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-49. Over a four (4) month period, Appellant Hackler made four separate written request to the University of Mississippi Medical Center for medical records. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-91, 93-94; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-40, 42-43. Hackler made written requests for the needed medical records on April 9, 2010, on May 3, 2010, on June 3, 2010, and on July 16, 2010. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-91, 93-100; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-41; 42-49. Additionally, Appellant Hackler's attorney verbally contacted the University of Mississippi Medical Center regarding the records. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-91; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-40. The University Medical Center finally provided the needed medical records in August 2010. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-91; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-40. All this information was provided to the Circuit Court. Circuit Ct. Rec. pp. 90-91; Appellants' Rec. Excp. pp. 39-40.

When Appellant finally received the medical records in August 2010, she was facing Defendants' summary judgment motions. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 32, 59; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 1-2. Unfortunately, by this time, Appellant Hackler had lost her job and was in a financial hardship. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-92; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40. This caused further delay and she was unable to pay the amount requested by the physicians to complete the review of the records and get an affidavit by the hearing date of November 18, 2010. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 90-92; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 39-40.

Due to the delay in receiving medical records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center and Appellant Hackler's unforseen financial hardship, Hackler requested additional to time have her potential expert witnesses complete their review of the medical records and provide appropriate affidavits to the court. *Circuit Ct. Rec.* pp. 86-89; *Appellants' Rec. Excp.* pp. 35-38.

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