IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2011-CA-00078

LATOYA HACKLER, on behalf of herself, individually, and as mother and next friend of A'KAALIN HACKLER TOWNES, a minor deceased, and any wrongful death beneficiaries of A'KAALIN HACKLER TOWNES, Deceased

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

VS.

BOLIVAR MEDICAL CENTER, owned and operated by LIFEPOINT HOSPITALS, INC., DR. ROBERT C. TIBBS, III, TIBBS CLINICS, and JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS 1-5

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE DR. ROBERT C. TIBBS, III

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi Second Judicial District Cause No. 2009-0065

Prepared and submitted by:

L. CARL HAGWOOD
Mississippi Bar No

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

"[I]n order to prevail in a medical malpractice action, a plaintiff must establish, by expert testimony, the standard of acceptable professional practice; that the defendant physician deviated from that standard; and that the deviation from the standard of acceptable professional practice was the proximate cause of the injury [or death] of which plaintiff complains." *Brown v. Baptist Mem'l Hosp. DeSoto, Inc.* 806 So.2d 1131, ¶ 12 (Miss. 2002)(citing *Phillips ex rel. Phillips v. Hull,* 516 So.2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1987) and *Burnham v. Tabb,* 508 So.2d 1072, 1074 (Miss. 1987)). "Unless the issue under consideration is within the common knowledge of laymen, expert testimony is required." *Mallet v. Carter* 803 So.2d 504, ¶ 11 (Miss. App., 2002)(citing *Palmer v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 564 So.2d 1346, 1355 (Miss. 1990)).

In one of the most recent cases on point, the Mississippi Supreme Court held, "The general rule in medical-negligence claims is 'that negligence cannot be established without medical testimony that the defendant failed to use ordinary skill and care." *Hill v. Mills*, 26 So.3d 322, ¶21 (Miss. 2010)(quoting *Troupe v. McAuley*, 955 So.2d 848, 856 (Miss.2007)(quoting *Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So.2d 229, 232 (Miss.2004)). The *Hill* court also noted:

In *Troupe*, we held:

To present a prima facie case of medical malpractice, a plaintiff, (1) after establishing the doctor-patient relationship and its attendant duty, is generally required to present expert testimony (2) identifying and articulating the requisite standard of care; and (3) establishing that the defendant physician failed to conform to the standard of care. In addition, (4) the plaintiff must prove the physician's noncompliance with the standard of care caused the plaintiff's injury, as well as proving (5) the extent of the plaintiff's damages.

Id. (quoting Troupe, 955 So.2d at 856 (quoting Cheeks v. Bio-Medical Applications, Inc., 908 So.2d 117 (Miss.2005)).

The Plaintiff's claims against Dr. Tibbs in the present case involve the standard of care for a newborn in distress. Thus, the facts of this case are not such that the standard of care for Dr. Tibbs is within the knowledge of lay persons. Without expert testimony establishing the relevant standard of care and tending to show that Dr. Tibbs breached that standard, the Plaintiff cannot make out her prima facie case, and all other issues in this case become immaterial. See Williams v. Bennett, 921 So.2d 1269, ¶10(Miss. 2006)("[w]here the summary judgment evidence establishes that one of the essential elements of the plaintiff's cause of action does not exist as a matter of law, or that plaintiffs' cause of action is barred by a statute of limitations, all other contested issues of fact are rendered immaterial.")(citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 2552 (1986)("[A] complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial."); See also Topalian v. Ehrman, 954 F.2d 1125, 1138 (5th Cir.1992). Bowie v. Montfort Jones Mem'l Hosp., et al., 861 So.2d 1037, ¶¶ 14-17 (Miss. 2003).; Sheffield v. Goodwin. 740 So.2d 854, ¶ 16-17 (Miss. 1999), Erby v. N. Miss. Med'l Ctr, 654 So.2d 495, 500 (Miss. 1995) Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 678, 683 (Miss. 1987), Ladner v. Campbell, 515 So.2d 882, 887-88 (Miss.1987).

Furthermore, "[o]nce the absence of genuine issues of material fact has been shown by the movant, the burden of rebuttal falls upon the non-moving party." Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So.2d 1205, 1213 (Miss. 1996). And, when defending a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff may not merely rest upon the allegations in his pleadings. See Travis v. Stewart, 680 So.2d 214 (Miss. 1996). Instead, "[t]he non-moving party must produce specific facts showing that there is a genuine material issue for trial. The non-moving party's claim must be supported by more than a mere scintilla of colorable evidence; it must be evidence upon which a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." Van v. Grand Casinos of Miss., Inc., 767 So.2d

1014,1018 (Miss. 2000) (citations omitted).

A trial court "has sound discretion to grant or deny a continuance under Rule 56(f)." Owens v. Thomae, 759 So. 2d 1117, 1120 (Miss 1990). The appellate court "will only reverse a trial court where its decision can be characterized as an abuse of discretion. *Id*.

At the hearing, the trial court ruled in favor of Dr. Tibbs and dismissed the Plaintiff's case with prejudice. Tr. at 19; R. at 157. The trial court based its decision on controlling case law that the general rule in medical-negligence claims "that negligence cannot be established without medical testimony that the defendant failed to use ordinary skill and care." Hill v. Mills, 26 So.3d 322, ¶21 (Miss. 2010)(quoting Troupe v. McAuley, 955 So.2d 848, 856 (Miss.2007)(quoting Brooks v. Roberts, 882 So.2d 229, 232 (Miss.2004)). Tr. at 18. The trial court also found that Plaintiff did not seek additional time to identify an expert in a timely manner, either informally from opposing counsel or with the trial court. Tr. at 19. Therefore, the trial court denied Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance. Id.

Plaintiff has failed to set forth any reason that an additional sixty (60) days would change the fact that she has no expert to testify in this medical malpractice claim. Without expert testimony establishing the relevant standard of care and tending to show that Dr. Tibbs breached that standard, the Plaintiff cannot make out her prima facie case, and all other issues in this case become immaterial. Therefore, summary judgment was proper and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. FACTS

On August 31, 2009, Plaintiff filed a medical negligence action against Dr. Robert C. Tibbs, III, and Bolivar Medical Center (BMC) alleging Dr. Tibbs and BMC committed medical negligence against A'Kaalin Hackler Townes, causing her death in July 2007. R. at 5-10. Plaintiff alleged,

among other claims, that Dr. Tibbs failed to provide proper evaluation, care, supervision or to respond to exigent circumstances created in connection with the treatment of Baby Townes. *Id.*

In response, Dr. Tibbs filed an Answer denying liability and also propounded discovery requests. In those discovery requests, Dr. Tibbs requested Plaintiff identify her experts, state the substance of the facts and opinions the experts are expected to testify to, and the grounds for the experts' opinions. R. at 43-56; T.R.E.1. Thereafter, Plaintiff answered discovery on March 8, 2010, but failed to identify their experts. *Id.* In her responses, Plaintiff stated she "had not decided which expert will testify at trial. The anticipated expert has not completed the report. Plaintiff expects to receive the report within the next 10-14 days and will supplement this response at that time." *Id.* Plaintiff failed to supplement her responses and on July 6, 2010, Dr. Tibbs' counsel requested that Plaintiff supplement her discovery responses to identify her experts. R. at 56; T.R.E. 1.

Thereafter, Plaintiff failed to identify her experts, and on August 24, 2010, Dr. Tibbs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, since Plaintiff had failed to identify any experts in this medical malpractice case. R. at 32-56; T.R.E.1. Subsequently, BMC filed a similar Motion for Summary Judgment on September 7, 2010. R. at 59-81. On September 30, 2010, Dr. Tibbs noticed his Motion for Summary Judgment for hearing on November 18, 2010. R. at 82-83; T.R.E.2. Two days prior to the hearing, Plaintiff filed a Motion Pursuant to Rule 56(f) to Continue Hearing and Motion to Conduct Discovery but never noticed the motion for hearing. R. at 86-156. Attached to Plaintiff's Motion was the Affidavit of Elliott B. Oppenheim, M.D., J.D. R. at 101-02. Among other things in the Affidavit, Dr. Oppenheim stated that, "My role is that of a medical-legal analyst consultant. I will not testify in this case," and "I do not practice law or medicine." *Id.* Also attached to Plaintiff's Motion was an unsigned Affidavit of Latoya Hackler stating that she had exhausted her funds and "was unable to provide any money towards the cost of obtaining a medical expert to testify

in the case regarding her deceased infant child, A'Kaalin Hackler Townes." R. at 155-56. Finally, Plaintiff's counsel, Ms. Louise Harrell attached an affidavit stating that University Medical Center, who was not a party to the suit, took several months to provide certain medical records. R. at 90-100. However, the affidavit did state that Plaintiff received the UMC records in August, three months prior to the hearing. *Id*.

At the hearing, the trial judge heard arguments from the parties and ruled from the bench that Dr. Tibbs' Motion for Summary Judgment was granted and denied Plaintiff's request for a continuance. Tr. at 19. Subsequently, the trial judge entered an Order Granting Defendant Robert C. Tibbs, III, M.D.'s Motion for Summary Judgment. R. at 157. Thereafter, Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal. R. at 159-60.

II. LAW AND ANALYSIS

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews summary judgments de novo. Stallworth v. Sanford, 921 So. 2d 340, 341-42 (Miss. 2006), citing Davis v. Hoss, 869 So. 2d 397, 401 (Miss. 2004). Summary judgment will be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Id., citing M.R.C.P. 56(c). "The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." Id. "If there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should be entered in his favor." Id. The burden of demonstrating that a genuine issue of material fact does not exist is placed on the moving party. Id.

A trial court has sound discretion to grant or deny a continuance under Rule 56(f). Stallworth v. Sanford, 921 So. 2d 340, 342-43 (Miss. 2006), citing Owens v. Thomae, 759 So. 2d 1117, 1120

(Miss. 1990). "This Court will only reverse a trial court where its decision can be characterized as an abuse of discretion." *Id*.

B. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Plaintiffs' request for a continuance under M.R.C.P. 56(f).

At the summary judgment hearing, Plaintiff's counsel admitted that even at the hearing she still did not have a name of a testifying expert, and her request for additional time to identify an expert was not made prior to the setting of the motion for summary judgment. Tr. at 13. Plaintiff's counsel stated that two doctors had reviewed the case, but they would not be testifying. Tr. at 12. Plaintiff's counsel also admitted she did not informally request any additional time to identify an expert from defense counsel. Tr. at 13-14. The summary judgment hearing occurred on November 18, 2010, over three years after the alleged negligence occurred and over a year after Plaintiff filed suit in this medical malpractice case.

After reviewing the pleadings and hearing arguments from the parties, the trial court ruled from the bench stating,

Under rule 56, and the various controlling cases, it is absolutely a prerequisite that there be a designation of an expert in a timely manner.

Had you sought leave of the Court, had you got an informal consent from opposing counsel for you to delay this matter further in an effort to obtain the name of an expert, that would have been okay. But I cannot let the matter proceed on under the circumstances.

•••

But you didn't seek additional time in a timely manner. Not either informally with your fellow counsel or with the Court. It's not an automatic.

Tr. at 18-19.

In a case on point, this Court upheld a trial court's grant of summary judgment to a

defendant/doctor when Plaintiff failed to timely respond to the doctor's interrogatory request for designation of an expert witness. *Stallworth v. Sanford*, 921 So. 2d 340 (Miss. 2006). In the *Stallworth* case, instead of providing an expert opinion at the summary judgment hearing, Plaintiff filed an affidavit three days before the hearing requesting additional time to file an expert affidavit. *Id.* at 342. In the affidavit, Plaintiff's counsel explained why she had not obtained an expert opinion by that time in the litigation, stating she had recently located an expert who was willing to testify. *Id.* Thereafter, the trial judge did not grant a continuance and granted the defendant/doctor's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* The trial court noted that Plaintiff did not file sworn discovery responses, had ample time to locate a medical expert and the affidavit filed did not comply with the rules regarding supplementation of discovery and did not excuse Plaintiff from having an expert to support her claim. *Id.* at 343. On appeal, the Supreme Court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Plaintiff's request for an additional thirty days to obtain a medical expert and noted Rule 56(f) is not designed to protect litigants who are lazy or dilatory. *Id.*, *citing In re Last Will & Testament of Smith*, 910 So. 2d 562, 570 (Miss. 2005).

In a similar Court of Appeals' case, the court affirmed summary judgment to the defendant when the plaintiff had failed to designate any medical expert which would establish the requisite elements of the medical malpractice claim. *Scales v. Lackey Mem'l Hosp.*, 988 So. 2d 426, 429 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). On appeal, the plaintiff alleged the trial court erred in granting summary judgment and argued that a continuance should have been granted. *Id.* at 430. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals pointed out that plaintiff had had three years from the time she filed her complaint until the time summary judgment was granted stated, "[a]s the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated, a plaintiff in a medical malpractice action knows 'from the very moment the suit [is] filed ... that an expert witness [will] be needed to survive summary judgment." *Id.* at 436, *citing Brooks v. Roberts*,

882 So. 2d 229, 232 (Miss. 2004). The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow additional time for discovery and affirmed summary judgment. *Id.*

In this case, Plaintiff requested additional time due to the delay in receiving the UMC medical records and Plaintiff's financial hardship. R. at 86-99; R.E. at 35-105. However, UMC is not a party to this case; the events at UMC are not relevant to determining whether Dr. Tibbs breached the standard of care at BMC; and Plaintiff received the UMC records three months prior to the hearing on Dr. Tibbs' and BMC's motions for summary judgment. R. at 90-100; R.E. at 39-49. Also, Plaintiff had ample time to request additional time when she realized the UMC records had not been received. In addition, Plaintiff had ample time to locate an expert prior to Plaintiff losing her job. This is a medical malpractice case, and Plaintiff should have been aware from the beginning that a medical expert would have to be retained to testify on her behalf in order to make out a claim for medical malpractice.

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